#### **FILED**

Apr 29, 2016

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

Washington State Court of Appeals Division III

 $\rightarrow$ 

Docket No. 340490

Kittitas Cy. Sup. Ct. Cause No. 142002176

#### ROBERT REPIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-against-

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Defendants-Respondents.

#### APPELLANT'S APPEAL BRIEF

ADAM P. KARP, ESQ. Attorney for Plaintiffs-Appellants 114 W. Magnolia St., Ste. 425 Bellingham, WA 98225 (888) 430-0001 WSBA No. 28622

##

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Refusing to permit Mr. Repin to recover noneconomic damages arising from the reckless and material breach of a contract hiring a veterinarian to euthanize a companion animal in a veterinarian-client-patient relationship.
- 2. Refusing to permit Mr. Repin to recover noneconomic damages arising from the traditional negligent infliction of emotional distress rule involving zone of danger.
  - 3. Dismissing Mr. Repin's claim for outrage.
  - 4. Dismissing Mr. Repin's claim for conversion/trespass to chattels.
- 5. Dismissing Mr. Repin's claim for lack of informed consent/negligent misrepresentation by omission.

#### **Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error**

- A. Did the trial court err in excluding recovery of noneconomic damages for breach of contract?
- B. Did the trial court err denying recovery of noneconomic damages for negligence?
  - C. Did the trial court err dismissing the claim for outrage?
- D. Did the trial court err dismissing the claim for conversion/trespass to chattels?
- E. Did the trial court err dismissing the claim for lack of informed consent/negligent misrepresentation by omission?

#### II. OVERVIEW

This lawsuit rests on the disturbing premise that Defendant Dr. Cohn-Urbach, a WSU/CVM resident, took numerous wrongful and completely unnecessary gambles with the manner of hastening the death of Mr. Repin's beloved dog, Kaisa. At about 1:30 a.m. on Sept. 27, 2012, the contract he signed for euthanasia was mateirally breached and the opposite (dysthanasia) transpired. **CP 337-38 ¶ 4.** As she was supposed to be drawing her last breaths, Kaisa's

whole body jerked violently and she screamed in agony, knowing she was being killed. For the next several minutes of hell, Kaisa struggled in desperation, staring deeply into Mr. Repin's face, her eyes begging that he explain why he was ending her life so torturously while at the same time showing panic and agitation that could have resulted in severe personal injury to Mr. Repin, the veterinary student present in the room, and Dr. Cohn-Urbach had he not restrained her with all his might. Because of her unpreparedness and refusal to place a new, working catheter prior to administering the Acepromazine and first injection of Euthasol, Dr. Cohn-Urbach had to leave Kaisa and Mr. Repin to retrieve another 15 mL of Euthasol and return to attempt uncatheterized intravenous administration in a now struggling, painfully conscious, and terrified patient.

In the crucible of the attempted euthanasia, Dr. Cohn-Urbach singlehandedly destroyed a lifetime of trust between Mr. Repin and Kaisa. Those who choose to be present during the euthanasia of their animal companions present acute medical concerns of foreseeable adverse psychological reactions. Dr. Cohn-Urbach knew or should have known the peril involved when allowing a veterinary student to administer caustic euthanizing solution (without Mr. Repin's consent) through a damaged catheter (the end of which having been chewed off), using a contraindicated premedicating tranquilizer (in insufficient dose), and failing to sufficiently warn Mr. Repin of such risks taken not only with Kaisa, but

also Mr. Repin, who hired WSU/CVM to provide a "world class" service. Instead, both suffered ignominious disservice.<sup>1</sup>

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Then three weeks of age, orphaned by a lactating mother struck on a rural highway, the pup should have died. Rescued by Mr. Repin's niece, who nursed her to vigorous health, she instead was delivered to her uncle, her path then bound to memorably cross with that of who he called his "millennium baby." To the best of their calculations, she was probably born January 1, 2001 – the first day of the new millennium. "[I]t was something that was, by my way of thinking again, meant to be." **CP 181 (6:19—7:25); CP 337 ¶ 2.** This Alaskan Malamute began her life just as Mr. Repin entered middle age. Today, at age 58, Mr. Repin is a regular Dick Proenneke (of *Alone in the Wilderness* fame). Single and with no biological children, he lives alone in a small cabin built by hand on the Blewett Pass Highway. Mr. Repin thrived independently and by his own wits and skill as a gold prospector digging tunnels into the earth to find that elusive symbol of freedom – with Kaisa by his side for nearly twelve years. **CP 337 ¶ 2.** 

As adventurous as she was independent, the two spirits bonded and aided one another through life's vicissitudes. Kaisa put her exclusive trust in Mr. Repin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Importantly, WSU showcases "A gentle goodbye," complete with a touching, 2012-posted, 3-minute video clip narrated by Kathy Ruby, Director of the Pet Loss Hotline. Ms. Ruby invites the public to learn more about the CVM and the pet loss/euthanasia services. <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vYwTrBaBFRw">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vYwTrBaBFRw</a> (accessed Dec. 27, 2015); see <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y PMOGKtdnE">www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y PMOGKtdnE</a> for longer version (accessed Dec. 27, 2015). CP <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y PMOGKtdnE">177-78</a>. She acknowledges that animals like Kaisa are "family members," adding that WSU/CVM trains students to deal with grieving people not only because of the short age span of most nonhuman patients, who die earlier than human beings, and for whom euthanasia is an option, but also recognizing that veterinarians are "facing death with their clients up to five times more often than human doctors do." She adds how imperative it is for them deal with animals and their guardians in a different way.

– a rare honor bestowed by an alpha female who would not tolerate strangers or allow them to approach, much less touch her, without Mr. Repin's assurance. Only an exceptional few could hold their faces near hers, a closeness founded on unconditional trust. Mr. Repin cherished it, throughout Kaisa's entire life. When veterinarians prodded, Kaisa acquiesced because Mr. Repin held her, stating, "It's OK, baby, I'm here." From the day she entered his life to the moment she died, Mr. Repin vowed to never betray her trust in him. **CP 337 ¶ 3.** 

Speaking Kaisan,<sup>2</sup> Mr. Repin knew that when her health began to falter, and the time came to give her peace, she deserved no less than euthanasia under the most respectful and humane circumstances possible. On Sept. 26, 2012, at his regular veterinarian's recommendation, Mr. Repin traveled 200 miles to Pullman to have Kaisa seen by Dr. Cohn-Urbach and staff at the WSU/CVM-Veterinary Teaching Hospital, to determine whether the time to let her go had come and, if so, to do so without disruption, fear, or suffering. Believing she only had a few weeks to live and that Kaisa would suffer, "rather than a few weeks of continual agony," Mr. Repin signed a *Consent for Euthanasia* agreement and decided that it was the most humane thing he could do for her, at "the place where they are the best of the best at what they do." **CP 186 (25:1-7).** Alerting her to the deeply

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Kaisa was his everything. Over that time, he learned how to read her mannerisms and vocalizations the way a foreign language student figuratively thrown in the deep end of a linguistic pool learns the native tongue of her his new home after swimming there for over a decade. Kaisa did not make it difficult to develop a canine vocabulary, for she was quite vocal. Mr. Repin became keenly aware of when she was painful or suffering. **CP 182 (9:1—10:5)** (she learned to say "I want out"; he would know when she "was crying as if her gut or something hurt" and he knew she was in pain). In the day or two before her death, she had a rough night and was in terrible pain with many vocalizations. **CP 183 (17:25—18:10)** (describing his staying up with her that night, getting very little sleep, rolled up in a blanket with her when"[s]he would squeal, as if she was in pain for 30 seconds, maybe a minute").

emotional and delicate nature of the procedure to be performed, Mr. Repin cautioned Defendant Dr. Cohn-Urbach,<sup>3</sup> however, that "if there are any papers that I need to sign, I want to do it now ahead of time." He "would not be able to afterwards." **CP 185 (24:20-23)**.

Dr. Cohn-Urbach admits that once or twice, before attempted euthanasia, Mr. Repin expressed that Kaisa did not like being handled without him present. **CP 207 (104:16-25).** Indeed, when she first met Kaisa, Mr. Repin was in the back of the hospital with Kaisa, in an area where clients are not typically allowed – because he insisted on being with her and did not want to leave her side. **CP 208 (105:1-10).** Dr. Cohn-Urbach acknowledges that Mr. Repin spent a great deal of time reflecting on how best to proceed. *Id.*, **105:15-17**. She admits he was invested in Kaisa's well-being, involved in making decisions for her care, and paying attention to what he was being told about prognosis and treatment options.

*Id.*, 106:1-10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dr. Cohn-Urbach began her one-year internship at WSU/VTH in June 2012. In June 2013, she began a three-year residence at Oregon State University's Veterinary College. Dr. Cohn-Urbach left the country in March 2015, having been terminated prematurely as a three-year resident at Oregon State University's Veterinary School for reasons related to her supervisors' perception that she was overconfident and arrogant. CP 197 (62:12-63:10; 63:24-64:14). Mr. Repin notes her arrogance as well. CP 185 (22:8-23:1, 23:6-25), CP 188 (33:11-12, 33:17-19, 33:22-34:7)(rolling of eyes, acting extremely confident and dismissive of others, and exemplified by her telling Ms. Feist that she would make a chewed-on catheter work). On the date Kaisa died, Dr. Cohn-Urbach was 25 years old. She obtained her Bachelor's of Veterinary Science in Australia in 2009, at the age of 22. CP 197 (64:24—65:9). Dr. Cohn-Urbach admitted that the 4<sup>th</sup> year veterinary student, Jasmin Feist, also age 25, had to go through three more years of college education to obtain her DVM, what she contends is the equivalent veterinary degree to her BVSc. CP 198 (65:10-66:3). Dr. Cohn-Urbach describes the four-year American undergraduate degree as "irrelevant." CP 198 (67:5-11). On Sept. 27, 2012, Ms. Feist had more years of education in an academic setting than Dr. Cohn-Urbach, yet the State permitted Dr. Cohn-Urbach to supervise her. CP 198-99 (67:15-23; 70:13-14). Dr. Cohn-Urbach reasoned that she had "a lot more veterinary experience" than Ms. Feist, having been "out in practice for twoand-a-half years." Id. Prior to Kaisa, Dr. Cohn-Urbach had performed 25-35 euthanasias. CP 208-09 (108:24—109:12).

Before Mr. Repin walked Kaisa from the ICU to what they call the "quiet room" for the euthanasia procedure, Mr. Repin signed a *Consent to Euthanasia* form. **CP 126, 187 (30:25—31:2)** (walking Kaisa from ICU). He did not grant permission for WSU/VTH to perform a necropsy or use Kaisa for educational purposes. *Id.* Neither Dr. Cohn-Urbach nor fourth-year veterinary student Jasmine Feist nor any other person brought Mr. Repin's attention to the part of the *Consent* that stated, "I hereby release the Washington State University Veterinary Teaching Hospital, their agents, and representatives, from any and all liability for said animal." **CP 338** ¶ 5. Further, Dr. Cohn-Urbach did not refer to the procedure as "humane destruction," but always as "euthanasia." She stated that she would first:

administer a mild sedative, that would help relax Kaisa, and then it would take a little while for that to take effect, and then when they – the second shot would be the euthanasia solution. And that if Kaisa gave a little muscle twitch, a little leg twitch, to not be concerned because it's only nerves and she would be passed away by that time if there was any sort of leg twitching is what she said to me.

CP 187 (29:22—30:6). She added that Kaisa might also have "possibly a deep breath." *Id.*, 30:8-10. Finally, she explained that the Euthasol would, "in very short order, stop her heart and she will pass away peacefully." *Id.*, 32:11-15. Dr. Cohn-Urbach's testimony does not vary significantly. She admits that she told him about deep gasps and tremors but did not enumerate any other types of adverse effects, such as convulsions or fighting to get away, noting that "the most horrifying thing for an owner to see in an owner-present euthanasia setting is agonal gasping, tremors, and convulsions." CP 208 (106:11—107:20).

Despite being an Arctic breed predisposed to vocalization, Dr. Cohn-Urbach failed to sufficiently apprise Mr. Repin of the risk of vocalization during euthanasia. **CP 240 ¶ 13(d).** 

After settling into the quiet room and getting into position, hyperaware to what was being said in the "very tiny" room, and listening acutely for Kaisa's last heartbeat (**CP 188 (35:14-22)**), Mr. Repin recalls Ms. Feist exclaiming that Kaisa had "chewed off the end of her catheter[.]" He explains:

- 4 A. Jasmine and Margaret Cohn-Urbach were on one side,
- 5 Kaisa and I got comfortable on the floor, she laid down and
- 6 closed her eyes and was relaxing. Urbach described what was
- 7 going to transpire, and she said any time you're ready, Mr.
- 8 Repin, we'll go ahead and proceed. So I said, Okay, I'm
- 9 ready. Jasmine I heard say, oh, look, Kaisa has chewed off
- the end of her catheter, should I go get another one? That's
- what was said. Margaret responded no. I will show you how to
- still make this one work.
- Q. Okay. So did you look at the catheter?
- 14 A. I'm not a doctor. I'm not a vet. I barely knew
- what a catheter was. I looked up, Margaret was on her knees
- with what was explained to me as the first shot was going to
- be the Acepromazine. She had just said to Jasmine, no, I --
- being the key word -- will show you how to still make this one
- work. And she was starting the injection. I looked up and
- 20 her wrist was towards me, the needle was in her hand, and she
- was injecting into the catheter. I wouldn't know what's good
- or bad on the catheter. She was absolutely confident, and I
- thought to myself, she's been totally confident all night and
- it may be going against my grain a little bit, she seems a
- little too cocky but she seems to know what she's doing. And
- she proceeded to inject the Acepromazine.

**CP 188 (33:4—34:1).** Mr. Repin disputes that they flushed the catheter to check for patency, noting:

It was explained to me that the first injection was going to be the Acepromazine. I suspect if they were going to flush the catheter first, they would have said, hey, Mr. Repin, don't worry, don't worry, this isn't the stuff. We're just cleaning out the catheter.

They would have told me. I would have been concerned, as any owner would have been, seeing a needle go to the catheter thinking, oh, my God, this is it. They never told me that they were going to flush it. I don't think they ever did. I think Margaret Cohn-Urbach was so confident in her skills, and she flat out told me the first injection was going to be the sedative, the Acepromazine. That's what she told me. That's what they did.

Id., 35:23—36:12. It should be noted that at the end of her graveyard shift, Dr. Cohn-Urbach met with the then-Director of WSU/VTH, Dr. Harmon Rogers, just as he was coming in to start his day. He instructed her to create an addendum to the record describing the problems encountered during the attempted euthanasia. CP 230 (94:4—95:1). In this addendum, Dr. Cohn-Urbach describes Kaisa "reacting" to the Euthasol from the first injection through the second injection. CP 212-13. Dr. Rogers's 4:27 p.m. email of Sept. 27, 2012 to Bryan Slinker, William Dernell, and Charlie Powell states that "the process was not smooth possibly because of a poorly placed catheter." His email at 5:00 p.m. asserts, "At the time of euthanasia the IV catheter looked questionable... It is possible that the euthanasia solution was perivascular." CP 130-31.4

There is no dispute that one should not use a catheter for euthanasia if it has been damaged, such as chewed on. **CP 200 (73:9-11).** Plaintiff's expert Victoria Peterson, DVM, JD confirms that one should never use a damaged or suspect catheter during an owner-present euthanasia. **CP 240 ¶ 13(e).** She adds that the standard of care in performing small animal euthanasia with the owner present is to administer a premedication with anxiolytic, analgesic, somnolent and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Cohn-Urbach opined that Kaisa was *not* having a secondary excitatory response to the Euthasol – further proof that it went perivascular and her reaction was one of extreme pain. **CP 209** (109:13-21).

sedative properties. **CP 236-38** ¶ **13(a)**. Given Kaisa's charted history as not being friendly to strangers and growling, and Mr. Repin's own statements to Dr. Cohn-Urbach about Kaisa being scared and defensive around veterinary personnel, it was more imperative that proper premedication be given. *Id.* Dr. Peterson explains that Acepromazine is not a sedative, anesthetic, anxiolytic, or analgesic and could even make an animal more excited, unpredictable, and dangerous by acting as a stimulant. *Id.* Furthermore, Acepromazine, if given with drugs like Euthasol (i.e., containing phenytoin), may decrease metabolism and diminish the Euthasol's effectiveness at slowing the heart. *Id.*; and see **CP 263-69.** A prudent veterinarian should never administer Acepromazine alone as a premedication for any euthanasia solution, like Euthasol.

Defendants admit that Euthasol has a pH of at least 12, is quite alkaline and caustic, and very painful if injected perivascularly. **CP 216, 219**. It is also very viscous and thick. **CP 204 (89:17-19).** For an aged dog like Kaisa, purportedly suffering from metastatic cancer, less than 9 mL of Euthasol would have sufficed to render her quickly unconscious, nonreactive, and unable to stand. **CP 241-42 ¶ 13(g), 13(h), 13(i).** Mr. Repin describes the events upon Ms. Feist injecting the undiluted Euthasol solution (**CP 204 (89:20—90:1)**(Cohn confirming undiluted)):

- 3 Q. Okay. So then walk me through what happened with
- 4 the first injection of Euthasol.
- 5 A. As I was listening to Kaisa's breathing and her
- 6 heart beat and waiting to hear her last heartbeat, since I did
- 7 not watch that injection, my head was buried in Kaisa's fur on
- 8 her neck, holding her, listening to her breathe and her heart
- 9 beat. When Margaret says, Okay, Mr. Repin, we're ready for
- 10 the second injection, are you ready? I said, Yes. I don't

- 11 know how many seconds it took to actually start the injection
- 12 but -- so I don't know exactly when the injection started, but
- 13 10 to a maximum of 20 seconds later my dog woke up screaming.
- 14 She was on her feet panicking, screaming in agony. I said,
- 15 What the fuck is going on here? I said, This can't fucking be
- 16 happening. I had to wrestle her back to the floor. I had to
- 17 hold her down and listen to her scream. Margaret and Jasmine
- 18 had backed up against the wall. They didn't know what the
- 19 fuck to do. Jasmine said, My God, it's not working. What
- 20 should we do, she says? My dog didn't know what the fuck was
- 21 going on. She would have tore those girls apart if I let go
- 22 of her. All she knew was she was in fucking pain and she
- 23 wanted to get out of there and I had to hold her down. She
- 24 looked at me, like, dad, what are you doing? What are you
- 25 doing to me? Jasmine said somewhere, What do we do? Should I
- 1 go get another catheter? Margaret says, I'm out of
- 2 medication. I said, This can't be fucking happening. They
- 3 stood there for, I don't know, not very long but seemed for an
- 4 eternity, Margaret says, I got to go get some more.

CP 189 (38:3—39:4). After this first injection, Dr. Cohn-Urbach left the room for about five to seven minutes. *Id.*, 39:5-10. Kaisa was struggling the entire time. *Id.*, 39:14-15. Mr. Repin did not let Kaisa get to all four of her feet. *Id.*, 39:16-19. Neither Dr. Cohn-Urbach nor Ms. Feist tried to help restrain Kaisa, so Mr. Repin held a screaming Kaisa in his firm grip. There was no pause in her agony. CP 189-90 (39:22—41:1). If he lost his hold of Kaisa, she would have "chewed the shit out of [Dr. Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist], and maybe me." *Id.*, 42:1-13. Mr. Repin was placed in imminent danger and fear that Kaisa might turn on him and cause grievous physical injury. Her jaws were close enough to his neck and other appendages that in her panic she could have easily bitten him. Ms. Feist was so petrified that she had her back to one of the walls of the quiet room. She was visibly terrified. CP 338-39 ¶ 7.

Dr. Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist both agree that Kaisa "reacted" to the

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