FILED

June 30, 2016

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 34049-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT REPIN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JASON D. BROWN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #39366 Torts Division, OID: 91106 Office of the Attorney General 1116 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 456-3123

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

This is the sort of public policy inquiry that is only appropriate for the

Legislature to consider and resolve.

The trial court also properly dismissed Mr. Repin's outrage, conversion/trespass, and lack of informed consent/negligent misrepresentation causes of action. And it correctly held Mr. Repin was not entitled to recover emotional distress damages under either his breach of contract or professional negligence claims.

Washington State University and Margaret Cohn-Urbach request that this Court—after *de novo* review of the evidence and law presented to the trial court—affirm the trial court's decision. The damages Mr. Repin seeks are unsupportable under Washington law.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether a plaintiff can recover emotional distress damages for breach of a euthanasia contract?
- 2. Whether a plaintiff can recover emotional distress damages for negligent injury to a pet?
- 3. Whether an animal suffering unintended pain, during euthanasia by a veterinarian, is atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized society?
- 4. Whether dismissal of Mr. Repin's conversion claim was proper?
- 5. Whether dismissal of Mr. Repin's lack of informed consent claim was proper?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Substantive Facts

Robert Repin acquired Kaisa in February 2001. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 2, 45. Kaisa had a history of being a vocal animal. CP at 46. In September 2012, Kaisa was diagnosed with cancer. CP at 47. On September 26, 2012, Mr. Repin's local veterinarian informed him they did not have the facilities to treat Kaisa's condition and referred him to the Veterinary Teaching Hospital (VTH) at Washington State University. CP at 48-49. Mr. Repin immediately loaded Kaisa into his car and drove from his home in Cle Elum to Pullman. CP at 49.

Upon arrival at the VTH, Kaisa was checked into the hospital by veterinary students Jasmine Feist and Jessica Miller. CP at 50-51, 78. At the time, Ms. Feist was a fourth year veterinary student and was doing an ICU rotation. CP at 77. Dr. Margaret Cohn-Urbach was an intern at the VTH. CP at 95. Dr. Cohn-Urbach was Ms. Feist's supervisor for that rotation. CP at 77, 95. During the time Kaisa was being checked in, Ms. Feist placed a catheter in her left front leg. CP at 51. After Kaisa's initial check in, it was a few hours before Kaisa was examined because another animal required emergency treatment. CP at 52, 98.

After the emergency situation was resolved, Dr. Cohn-Urbach examined Kaisa. CP at 53. Repeat radiographs were taken. CP at 53,

101. The radiographs indicated Kaisa was probably suffering from cancer. CP at 53. A consult with an oncology resident was arranged. CP at 54, 100. Kaisa's prognosis was grave and euthanasia was recommended. CP at 53-54. Euthanasia is an elective procedure. CP at 91. However, after considering what to do, Mr. Repin authorized Kaisa's euthanasia. CP at 55, 79, 109.

After he signed a Consent for Euthanasia form, Dr. Cohn-Urbach explained to Mr. Repin what he might expect to see during the euthanasia procedure. CP at 59, 126. Mr. Repin testified that, based on this conversation, he expected that any adverse reaction would include a "slight leg twitch, possibly a deep breath." CP at 60. Dr. Cohn-Urbach testified she has a "very standard discussion" that she uses to explain the euthanasia procedure:

I just want to warn you that sometimes animals have adverse effects to the drugs, sometimes they'll have deep gasps, tremors, other adverse effects, however, it doesn't mean they are in pain, it doesn't mean they are suffering, it's just a side effect of the drug and it can happen. It's not expected, but it can happen.

CP at 96. Dr. Cohn-Urbach is confident she had this standard discussion with Mr. Repin. CP at 96.

The euthanasia was performed in a room called the quiet room.

CP at 79. Dr. Cohn-Urbach asked Ms. Feist if she would like to perform

the euthanasia and Ms. Feist agreed to do so. CP at 80. As the VTH is a teaching hospital, Dr. Cohn-Urbach wanted Ms. Feist to learn from the experience. CP at 111. Dr. Cohn-Urbach told Mr. Repin they would give Kaisa a mild sedative, followed by the euthanasia solution. CP at 61. Mr. Repin and Kaisa got comfortable on the floor of the quiet room and Mr. Repin told Dr. Cohn-Urbach to proceed. CP at 62.

Mr. Repin makes much of the condition of the catheter. Repin testified he heard Ms. Feist say to Dr. Cohn-Urbach that Kaisa had chewed the end of the catheter. CP at 62. Ms. Feist was concerned that when she tested the catheter, she did not get any "flashback" of blood into the syringe. CP at 84, 103. Looking for flashback is a common way to test patency of a catheter in horses, not in small animals like dogs. CP at 84, 103. She made a note of this to Dr. Cohn-Urbach. CP at 82. As a result, they tested the catheter by flushing a large amount of saline through the catheter to ensure it was patent. CP at 82, 84. Neither Ms. Feist nor Dr. Cohn-Urbach had any concerns that the catheter looked damaged or chewed on. CP at 83, 85, 114. Dr. Cohn-Urbach testified the catheter looked "perfect." CP at 111. Ms. Feist and Dr. Cohn-Urbach were confident the catheter was patent prior to the euthanasia. CP at 93, 115.

¹ The term "patent" refers to something that is "open, unobstructed, or not closed." *Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary* 976 (26th ed. 1981).

Despite repeatedly stating that the catheter was damaged, see Appellant's Appeal Brief at 7-8, Mr. Repin did not observe the catheter during the euthanasia procedure nor did he observe Kaisa chewing on the catheter at any time. CP at 63. Mr. Repin points to an e-mail by Dr. Harmon Rogers, Director of the VTH, in which Rogers states: "At the time of euthanasia the IV catheter looked questionable." CP at 130. Dr. Rogers testified this statement was based upon what Dr. Cohn-Urbach told him. CP at 123-24. He further testified that "questionable" was his term, not Dr. Cohn-Urbach's, and that Dr. Cohn-Urbach did not say the catheter was "questionable." CP at 123-24. The only two people who observed the condition of the catheter, Dr. Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist, testified that there was no damage to it and it was patent after testing it. CP at 83, 85, 93, 111, 114-15. Even though those steps may not have been visible to Mr. Repin, Dr. Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist took steps to make sure the catheter they were going to administer the euthanasia drugs into was patent. CP at 83, 85, 93, 111, 114, 115.

Prior to any of the drugs being administered, Kaisa was asleep. CP at 66. As Kaisa was sleeping, the Acepromazine was administered by Ms. Feist. CP at 65, 103. After the administration of the Acepromazine, they waited between five and ten minutes. CP at 65, 104. During this time,

Kaisa continued to sleep. CP at 66. After waiting five to ten minutes, Ms. Feist administered the Euthasol. CP at 66, 81, 97, 104.

The accounts of what transpired after the administration of the Euthasol differ considerably.² According to Mr. Repin, within ten to twenty seconds, Kaisa was awake and "screaming in agony." CP at 67. Mr. Repin indicated he had to wrestle Kaisa back to the floor. CP at 67. Repin further indicated Kaisa would have "tore those girls apart" if he had let go of her. CP at 67. Mr. Repin testified that Dr. Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist stood there for what seemed like an eternity before Dr. Cohn-Urbach left to get more Euthasol. CP at 68. Repin said Dr. Cohn-Urbach was gone from five to seven minutes and Kaisa struggled the entire time she was gone. CP at 68.

According to Ms. Feist, toward the end of the Euthasol injection, Kaisa lifted her front end up and vocalized. CP at 82. Ms. Feist characterized the vocalization as at least one loud howl. CP at 86. Ms. Feist would not characterize it as screaming in agony. CP at 92. When this happened, Dr. Cohn-Urbach jumped up and left the room. CP at 82. Repin grabbed Kaisa around the neck and held her. CP at 89-90.

² Although there are significant factual differences in the parties' accounts of the euthanasia procedure, and the law requires all inferences be made in favor of the non-moving party, the factual differences between (and among) the accounts do not alter the legal conclusion under Washington law. Even if all of Repin's assertions are accepted as true, he has no claim for damages beyond economic damages.

After Dr. Cohn-Urbach left the room, Kaisa stopped vocalizing, lay back down and started having large breaths. CP at 82. Ms. Feist thought Kaisa died after she lay back down and had a couple large breaths. CP at 87, 89. Ms. Feist estimates Dr. Cohn-Urbach was gone "a minute or two." CP at 88.

According to Dr. Cohn-Urbach, Kaisa made three noises and looked at her left leg which Ms. Feist was handling and injecting. CP at 104. Dr. Cohn-Urbach characterized the noises as a bark or howling sound. CP at 106. Dr. Cohn-Urbach testified Kaisa was not acting violently or thrashing. CP at 107, 112-13. As Kaisa was reacting, Dr. Cohn-Urbach observed that Mr. Repin was "very unhappy." CP at 104. Mr. Repin had positioned himself on Kaisa and was holding her. CP at 107. At that point, Dr. Cohn-Urbach made the decision that she wanted to accomplish the euthanasia as quickly as possible. CP at 104-05. So, she left the quiet room to get more Euthasol. CP at 105. Dr. Cohn-Urbach estimates she was gone two minutes. CP at 107.

When Dr. Cohn-Urbach returned to the quiet room, she told Mr. Repin she was going to inject again in Kaisa's right leg. CP at 69, 82. Dr. Cohn-Urbach then injected the Euthasol directly into the cephalic vein in Kaisa's right leg. CP at 105. As Dr. Cohn-Urbach was administering the second dose of Euthasol, Kaisa made another noise similar to the noise

she made during the first injection. CP at 105. After the second injection, Kaisa died. CP at 70.

Mr. Repin lifted Kaisa onto a gurney and rolled her out to his car. CP at 71. Dr. Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist both walked with Mr. Repin out to his car. CP at 71. As they walked, Mr. Repin repeatedly told Dr. Cohn-Urbach, "You fucked this up." CP at 71, 108. Dr. Cohn-Urbach told Mr. Repin, "I know that this is a very difficult time for you, but I hope that at some point in the future you will realize that I just meant the best for Kaisa." CP at 108. Ms. Feist helped Mr. Repin get Kaisa into his car. CP at 72. Mr. Repin then drove home to Cle Elum and buried Kaisa. CP at 73.

B. Procedural Facts

Robert Repin filed this case on June 30, 2014. CP at 1-7. Mr. Repin seeks damages for Kaisa's pain and suffering, his own emotional distress, and the cost of payment for the euthanasia procedure. CP at 74-75. The Respondents (collectively "the University") answered the complaint on August 4, 2014. CP at 8-16. On December 11, 2015, the University filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of all causes of action brought by Mr. Repin and requested that, if any causes of action were to survive, damages be limited to Mr. Repin's economic loss. CP at 17-40. On January 8, 2016, the Honorable Frances Chmelewski

granted the University's motion in part and denied it in part. CP at 390-93. Judge Chmelewski denied the University's motion as to the professional negligence and breach of contract causes of action and as to the University's affirmative defense based upon the release language in the Consent for Euthanasia form signed by Mr. Repin. CP at 390-93. However, Judge Chmelewski granted the University's motion as to the reckless breach of contract, lack of informed consent/negligent misrepresentation by omission, outrage, and conversion/trespass to chattels causes of action. CP at 390-93. Finally, Judge Chmelewski ruled, as a matter of law, that Mr. Repin's damages are limited to his economic loss, and he was not entitled to emotional distress damages or damages for Kaisa's pain and suffering. CP at 390-93.

On January 20, 2016, Judge Chmelewski signed a Stipulation and Agreed Order Staying Proceedings at Trial Level and Preparing for Interlocutory Review. CP at 394-96. In the Order, the parties stipulated to, and Judge Chmelewski certified, review under RAP 2.3(b)(4). CP at 394-96.

On March 8, 2016, this Court accepted discretionary review of the issues on which the trial court granted the University judgment as a matter of law.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court conducts the same inquiry as the trial court. Howland v. Grout, 123 Wn. App. 6, 9, 94 P.3d 332 (2004). Summary judgment is appropriate where the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, demonstrates there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56; Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 123 Wn.2d 891, 897, 874 P.2d 142 (1994). A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends in whole or in part. Atherton Condo Ass'n v. Blume Development Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990).

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Washington law bars Mr. Repin from recovering emotional distress damages for the loss of Kaisa. Washington courts uniformly recognize that animals are personal property. *Mansour v. King County*, 131 Wn. App. 255, 267, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006); *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wn. App. 855, 870, 195 P.3d 539 (2008). Because animals are personal property, Washington courts have barred recovery of emotional distress damages for breach of a contract for veterinary services, for negligent injury to a pet, and for negligent infliction of emotional distress.

Hendrickson v. Tender Care Animal Hosp., 176 Wn. App. 757, 767, 312 P.3d 52 (2013) (breach of contract); Sherman, 146 Wn. App. at 873 (negligence); Pickford v. Masion, 124 Wn. App. 257, 260, 98 P.3d 1232 (2004) (negligent infliction of emotional distress).

Despite the state of the law, Mr. Repin argues he is entitled to emotional distress damages under each theory. With regard to breach of contract, Mr. Repin argues, with reference to Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurants, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 426, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991), and Restatement (2nd) of Contracts § 353 that emotional distress damages are recoverable, because they were foreseeable for breach of contract for euthanasia of a Mr. Repin's claim fails, because Washington courts have not pet. recognized recovery of emotional distress damages for breach of a contract, even where emotional distress is foreseeable. With regards to negligence, Mr. Repin concedes that emotional distress damages are unavailable for negligent injury to a pet. However, he then proceeds to argue, despite not having pled a cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress, that he is entitled to recover based upon the outdated "zone of danger" test. Mr. Repin's claim fails, because the "zone of danger" test was replaced by the Hunsley v. Giard, 87 Wn.2d 424, 434, 553 P.2d 1096 (1976) rule which is based on the established negligence elements of duty, breach, proximate cause, and damages. As such, the

"zone of danger" test is not a stand-alone basis for recovery. If the law is to be expanded in either of these areas, it is within the province of the Legislature, not the courts.

Mr. Repin also appeals the trial court's dismissal of his outrage, conversion, and lack of informed consent causes of action. Mr. Repin's outrage claim fails, because he is unable to show that a euthanasia that had the unintended consequence of inflicting pain on the animal being destroyed went beyond all possible bounds of decency, could be regarded as atrocious, or is utterly intolerable in a civilized community. Mr. Repin's vague conversion claim fails, because Mr. Repin authorized the euthanasia of Kaisa. With regard to lack of informed consent, Mr. Repin's claim fails, because this cause of action is limited in Washington to human patients. Further, to extent there is such a cause of action in the veterinary context, Dr. Cohn-Urbach adequately informed him of the expected risks of the procedure.

For these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of Mr. Repin's outrage, conversion, and lack of informed consent causes of action as well as limit his damages to his economic loss.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Repin's Complaints Are More Appropriately Addressed To The Legislature.

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